BOARS TYE FARM, RIVENHALL

Parish of Rivenhall Tithe Map and Apportionment: 1839

No.
Field name


Acreage    
Owner

    Occupier

70
First Grove Land
A
18.  0.  35
Lord Weston
    Laver

67
Second Grove Land
A
19.  0.  35

“

“

68
Five Acres

A
  6.  1.  13 

“

“

71
Homestead


  1.  0.  20

“

“

72 
Kitchen Field

A
12.  1.   0

“

“

73
Long Field

A
17.  2.  14.

“

“

74
Anderson Field
A
  7.  0.  33.

“

“

75
Grove Field

A
  5.  1.  14.

“

“
76
Part of Long Ley
A
  7.  3.  20.

“

“

77
Pasture

P
  6.   0.   5.

“

“

78
Meg Pear Tree
A
  9.   0.   0.

“

“

82
Ten Acres

A
 14.  0.  33.

“

“

83
Horse Pasture
A
  4.   0.  29.

“

“

84
Four Acres

A
  5.   2.    0.

“

“
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Historic Appraisal and Report on Boars Tye Barn,
Silver End, Rivenhall, Essex.
Introduction.
This report has been initiated by the Historic Environment Management Team of the Essex County Council Archaeology Section following the approval of plans by Braintree District Council for the change of use and domestic conversion of the barn at Boars Tye Farm, Boars Tye Road, Silver End, Witham, Essex. The OS map reference for the site is TL 8094 2003. The approvals notice for Application nos. 06/0128/FUL & 06/01287/LBC contained, in condition 12, a requirement to carry out archaeological work in accordance with the brief prepared by Essex County Council.
This report will contain the original appraisal carried out for Braintree District Council in November 2004 and add further comment and detail to the information presented in that report with annotated frame drawings modified from the architects survey and photographs taken at the time of this survey in November 2006.
Historic Background.
This Grade II listed barn, as many of the buildings within this area, was not built until the period after the dissolution of the monasteries by Henry VIII. Prior to this time the area was in the control of the Knights Hospitaller who took over the holding of Cressing Temple following the suppression of the Templar’s in the early fourteenth century. The site of this barn being little over a mile from the Preceptory site at Cressing.
In the seventeenth century the Rivenhall Estate was in the ownership of the Wiseman family, Ralphe Wiseman having inherited it in May 1590. He died in 1608 and his eldest son Thomas inherited and was knighted in 1624, the estate being large and valued at £3000. It can be suggested that Thomas was the developer of Boars Tye farm.
By the eighteenth century the Estate of Rivenhall Place has transferred to the Western family through mother and youngest son. Rivenhall Place was the seat of Thomas Western at the end of the seventeenth century, it was last occupied by a rector Thomas Western in 1823 before being let by the Western’s to other residents. A major survey of the Rivenhall Place estates was carried out by Benjamin Fallowes in 1716-17 which does contain maps of the estate. This survey was possibly carried out as William Western had died in September 1714. A copy of a map for Boars Tye Farm is in the Essex Record Office and was examined for this survey. It shows an arable farm with two barns and a possible granary, the land holding actually being larger than when the Tithe Map & Award is undertaken some hundred years later. It also shows small areas of land away from the main block of the holding, whether these are in the holding of Boars Tye is not clear as they could be a way for the surveyor to show small lets from the main estate. One is actually marked as a croft. It is also interesting to note that houses on the early map appear to have already disappeared by the 1840’s.
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By 1777 the date of the Chapman and Andrée map of Essex, Boars-tye Green, the area around Boars Tye farm, is clearly shown and also the lane leading directly to the empaled hunting park around Rivenhall Place. The map shows the farm to have two barns and a house, the barn nearest the road almost certainly the object of this survey.
By the time of the Tithe Map for Rivenhall in 1839 the farm layout is shown very differently. The barn appears in a similar place but the other buildings are re-orientated with the other possible barn shown connected to the north of the house. The copy available in the Essex Record Office is very poor and many details on it are hard to translate. The Award specifies nearly all the land as being arable meaning that the farm was heavily dependent on cereals for its income.
In 1875 the first edition of the 25” Ordnance Survey maps shows a well developed farmstead, again with the two barns in a similar place as shown on the Tithe Award but with many other buildings that possibly show a movement into animal stock as well as cereal growing. Attached to the north west rear of the southern barn is a range of six units that could be pigsties. A small square unit infills the corner formed with the rear of the barn approx. equivalent to one bay of barn size and against the back of the sties. A long L-shaped range extends from the north east corner of the barn with closed yards in front. These are almost certainly animal shelters of some kind. To the west of the barn are two more buildings, one possibly stables whilst the other must be the listed granary extant within the area of the original farmyard (possibly moved from the roadside position as it appears to be shown on the 1716 map) but now in the separate ownership of Boars Tye House. The northern barn also has two additions, a reasonably large building to the east and beyond the midstrey of the barn to the north are closed yards with another building on the north boundary. Today this barn exhibits an extensive rebuild from possibly the late eighteenth century or very early nineteenth century to major reconstruction in the twentieth century with much new timber and a new roof. The area around the barn could be for cattle as, a circular feature, possibly a midden is shown in the middle of one of the yards.
The second edition published in 1898 shows very little change, other than at the north of the site. Here the boundaries between the northern barn and possible cowhouse have gone and the buildings are shown open to the adjacent field.

By the time of the New Series of Ordnance Survey maps in 1922 the northern building has gone as has the small square building attached to the southern barn. This has possibly been replaced by an addition to the north of the pigsties, which, although shown on the earlier editions was only as a very small projection. The layout of the farmyard in 1922 is very similar to the map of 1875 but varies dramatically to that of the Tithe map.
From the time of the New Series map to the Frances Crittall purchase in the 1920’s to 30’s little is known of the farm and it quickly lost its land as the industrial village of 
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Silver End was developed by the Crittall’s. The Architectural Record for October 1930 states “In 1926 as the result of the acute housing shortage the Crittall Manufacturing Company Limited began building operations for a garden village midway where employees could live within easy distance of their work.” It has mainly been used as storage since that time with typical Crittall additions of steel windows and a tracked lifting device of which the roof frame survives plus the inserted floor over one half of the barn and the panelled over walling within this area. This use was originally within the Crittall organisation but after Braintree District Council purchased Silver End it was used by them or let to others.
The Barn.
The general description of the barn is covered in the 2004 report. This will concentrate on further observations during the present survey.
The five bay timber framed barn with midstrey is remarkably complete. It is built from a mixture of oak and elm, typical of a period into the second and third quarters of the seventeenth century. The granary/maltings at Cressing Temple completed in 1623 also has mixture of oak and elm in the new timber elements of its construction. The timbers of the main frame are of good section which is another pointer to this period when the main frame was still of relatively heavy sections but the infill studs were already getting much lighter in section, a development that also applied to the main frame by the early part of the eighteenth century.

The buildings demonstrate what must be considered as a highly developed framing system with very long heavy primary bracing. These are tenoned and pegged into the storey posts above the level of the midrails. Midrails in this case refers to horizontal timbers that are in fact two thirds of the way between floor and wallplate making them already higher than normal within the building frame. These midrails, to each of the positions in the barn structure with primary braces, are then tenoned and pegged into the braces. Because of the timber size the number of braces has been reduced to just sufficient to support the structure thus using less larger framing timbers. Each end frame has a brace either side of the central storey post forming a strong base unit to support the rest of the frame. This being very similar in form to a king post truss as used for a roof. The fully jointed construction of midrails into braces from the corner posts provides a further triangulation to the frame. On the front wall of the barn to either side of the midstrey the braces are in the two outer bays to provide a strong unit to control the weaker frame around the midstrey opening. The rear wall has the opposite pattern with the braces on the inner bays supporting the frame to the outer corners and across the centre bay into which smaller rear doors were placed. The fully jointed and pegged posts, framing these doors, is complete within the structure although the door opening has long been infilled. As the midrail is in fact two thirds of the way up between sill and wallplate the studs above the midrail are relatively short and those above the rear opening especially so. As the assembly of these would be very laborious the carpenter developed a system of fitting these studs after the assembly of the main frame. 
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In one face the normal stud mortises were cut and above or below these, depending on position, a long mortise was cut equivalent to the distance between each pair of infill studs. As most panels had an even number of studs it would be a practical method of assembly. Only on the end frames, with an uneven number of studs, did an increased size mortise have to be cut just to fit one stud. As not all areas of the barn frame were visible during the survey it is impossible to say whether this was a system developed as the barn was pre-assembled or part of the original design.
The other main item of interest in the timber frame is the long lengths of timber, of good quality, available at the time of build. The plates show only one scarf joint and the tiebeams of the centre bay extend to become the wallplates of the midstrey.
The scarf joints around the area where the midstrey joins with the main body of the barn are from modern repairs carried out by the District Council when it was still in their ownership. The only visible scarf to the original construction is in the central bay of the rear wall nearly centrally in the wallplate. It is a very simple housed and bridled joint with bottom stepped shoulder and two edge pegs.
The storey posts have large span slightly serpentine braces to the tiebeams, many of which are in elm. There are no braces to the storey posts framing the midstrey. The common carpenters assembly marks, where visible, appear to be gouged where used to mark the brace joints and short chiselled marks at other joints. These are clear on the arch brace to storey post joints. They run in gouged form along the barn from the east as I & II across the first bay, III &IIII to the storey posts of bay two and three of the rear wall and IIIII & IIIIII across the fourth bay.
Two of the feet of these storey posts to the rear wall exhibit the curving grain that is typical of the lower end of coppice grown timber. If this is a correct assumption it shows a long felling rotation to obtain such large timbers. This may also be a clue to the availability of such long timber for the construction of the barn. Long coppice timbers, almost certainly of seventeenth century date, can also be found in Cressing church where, when another frame structure was built within the existing early fifteenth century belfry in the seventeenth century, long shores cut from coppice were fitted to the sides to brace it structurally. These coppice poles could all be a remnant from the Cressing estate, when, at the end of the medieval period many areas of timber growth in the area still existed in small shaws which could be developed to grow quick tall trees.
The “I” scribed or chiselled to each tiebeam is almost certainly a levelling and alignment mark when the building frame was being erected. The recorded face marks (denoting the working face of the timber) will be from the initial timber conversion which, from the main timbers noted, was a mix of axe and saw conversion so common at this period.
The midstrey of course is original to the main barn with its common timbers. The main framing to the original entrance doors survives although the opening is now 
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reduced with new inner door posts bolted to the tiebeam and twentieth century full height doors albeit to a much lower height than the originals. The original door posts show typical barn door arrangements with the first two feet or so covered by slotted in boards for which the grooving partially survives. These are used at threshing time to control dust and farmyard fowl while flailing and winnowing is in progress. Above are the pintle positions for the main doors and cut-outs in the posts for a drawbar to slot in and retain the doors.
The roof is a framed and joggled side purlin roof, again similar to the granary at Cressing Temple. It is mainly built of elm with the purlins tenoned and pegged into the principle rafters. The common rafters of the lower run are pegged to the purlins. This type of roof construction with fully gabled ends is typical of the middle period of the seventeenth century.
The eighteenth century plinth bricks could be a rebuild after about one hundred years and the brick on edge top course could date from an even later period when the sills were replaced. It is not common, in this area, to find brick on edge as a finish to a plinth but it has been seen in other instances in association with sill replacement.

The lean-to to the east of the midstrey is almost certainly late eighteenth century, with originally a strong floor construction that together with the fact that no visible original windows appear in the frame suggests use as a granary. The brick on edge infill between the studs is another pointer to use as a granary where the exclusion of vermin is essential. Within the upper parts of the lean-to roof against the midstrey wall are remnants of wide elm weatherboarding which appears to be original to the barn. 
The outside of the whole building now has modern softwood cladding and shows no signs within the frame of any infill or covering other than weatherboarding. The original roof covering will only possibly be decided when the existing asbestos roof covering is removed to enable the rafters to be studied for lathing battens. The distance between each row can suggest tile or thatch but no staining was noticeable on any rafters as often found from thatch being tied to the roof with tarred twine.
This is an important barn in the development of timber framing and should be considered with all the other framed buildings in this area that date from after the Dissolution. This, other than possible dendrochronological coring may show some form of sequence date as much building must have happened within a very small radius and within a relatively short time period as the lands were broken down into smaller operating units. 
Farming within this period.
The only remaining buildings within this site that relate to a farming origin are the barn under discussion and a seventeenth century granary. The northern barn is now 
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away from the immediate site but was possibly the first barn on the farmstead. The restructuring in the late eighteenth century would agree with the massive requirement for corn at that time and the high prices available. However, all the buildings have lost all evidence of their working practice, apart from the structure, making it difficult to relate to the early use and farming methods. The house and the barn now outside the site area to the north are also listed as seventeenth century which would agree with a farm being formed within the major estate as a rental farm. This makes for the possibility that all the original buildings of this farmstead as built in the seventeenth century do in fact still exist at least in much changed form. If this is the case it is important that the other remaining buildings are closely inspected for structural similarities. (The northern barn has no similarities with the southern barn). We may be looking at the farm complex of a seventeenth century arable farm of some 150 acres. From John Weller’s calculations in 1986, an allowance of approx. 160 cu. ft. of barn storage is required for each acre of crop. With maybe an average 120 acres of crops allowing for fallow and pasture one would need the barn to be about 10,000 cu. ft. to take half the crop. A rough calculation of the survey barn shows an available capacity of about 11500 cu. ft. which would agree very closely with the requirements.
The above is based on the fact that traditionally the area is arable as noted at the Cressing Temple site from the thirteenth century at least. From the two earliest maps, although the information is vague they show that the farm was mainly arable with only small areas of pasture. This is backed by the field descriptions with the Tithe Award which in many cases are the same or a variation of those on the estate map of 1716. Even though some of the names are the same the area calculations for many of the fields vary widely between the two. By the time of the First Edition Ordnance Survey in 1875 the money had gone out of cereals. The map shows that the farm had quickly developed as a mixed farm and this appears to be the same up to the absorption into the Crittall empire in the 1920’s and its subsequent burial under the modern development of Silver End. It can only be assumed that the buildings added to operate the site as a mixed farm were removed at the time of the Crittall take-over.
References.
ERO D/DFg 1/15 
Rivenhall Place & Mundon Hall Estate survey by Benjamin 
Fallowes of Maldon. 1716-17. Rivenhall estate – Boars Tye map.
ERO D/CT 290B
Rivenhall Tithe Award 1839.
ERO 
Ordnance Survey First Edition 25” 1875. Sheets 34.4 & 34.8.

ERO 
Ordnance Survey Second Edition 25” 1897. Sheets 34.4 & 34.8.

ERO 
Ordnance Survey New Series 25” 1922. Sheet 35.15.

6
Chapman & Andrée map of Essex. From a survey conducted from 1772-74 and published in 1777 by John Chapman & Peter André. Copy was from republished copy by Harry Marjary, Kent and Phillimore & Co Ltd of Chichester.
Weller J
1986
Grangia et orreum, Bidleston Booklets.

Cressing Temple. A Templar & Hospitaller Manor in Essex. 1993. 

Essex County Council.
The History and Antiquities of the County of Essex. Philip Morant, published 1768. (Re-published 1978 by EP Publishing Ltd.)
Notes.
Special thanks are due to the owner Mr Heck who has been so helpful to make this survey possible.

Brenda & Elphin Watkin.  December 2006.
7
Below is a copy of the historic appraisal carried out by Michael Munt in November 2004 for Braintree District Council.
BOARS TYE BARN, BOARS TYE ROAD, SlLVER END

AN HISTORIC APPRAISAL

The original development of the barn.
The barn is a timber framed cereal barn, five bays in length, aligned southwest to northeast. It stands about fifteen metres to the southeast of the former Boars Tye Farmhouse, and both structures were originally part of the same farmstead called Boars Tye Green, shown on Chapman and Andre's map of 1777.

The building is likely to date from the early seventeenth century. It has a sturdy oak frame, with its members pegged, and has an unusually wide roof span of almost seven metres. The main posts are braced, (except those adjoining the southern midstrey projection), with large, curved braces. The midstrey is part of the original structure, and two of the tie beams of the barn extend to form the wall plates of this extension. This required unusually long timbers, of 11 metres length. One survives intact (on the left or west side of the central bay), but the corresponding right hand beam has been repaired, and bisected.

A further unusual feature is the wall bracing in some of the bays and in the gable end walls. The long, straight primary braces cut through not only the studs, but also through the end of the mid rail, which becomes truncated. The braces are pegged into the posts a little above the point at which the midrail would have been.

We can be quite sure that there would have been a doorway on the northwest face of the barn, in the central wider bay, opposite the midstrey. This is now infilled by studwork. The studs above the rail in this space were slotted into their mortises in the soffit of the wall plate by the means of long grooves.

The roof is a joggled butt purlin form, with two sets of rafters above and below the purlin, pegged into it and coupled at the ridge with the corresponding rafters on the other roof face. Some additional bracing has been added in recent years, and above the original roof is a later, scant softwood network of timbers, supporting a twentieth century asbestos sheet roof. The original roof is likely to have been thatched, although it appears substantial enough to have taken tiles. A closer inspection should indicate the arrangement of battens and thereby assist in a more accurate assessment.

There is no evidence of any original wattle and daub infilling of the wall frame. Weatherboard would have been the usual cladding material, and indeed on the upper part of the northeast face of the midstrey we find a surviving area of untreated elm horizontal boards.
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These have been protected by the added catslide roofed addition which itself has a much less substantial frame, which is nailed rather than pegged: At present the external walls are clad in modern softwood feather-edge boarding.
The entire frame of the barn, including that of the midstrey sits on a continuous brick plinth, about four courses high. This is likely to be contemporary with the Iean-to addition, and this together with the size of the bricks supports the assumption that the plinth is a rebuilt feature dating from the eighteenth century.

Modern developments

The floor of the barn has been renewed in the twentieth century in concrete. There are no remnants of the threshing floor, apart from a strip of red brick at the entrance to the barn.
The hamlet of Silver End changed radically in the 1920s and 1930s, following the acquisition of the farm and other land by Frances Crittall who layed out the garden village around his metal window factory. The farmhouse and the barn were both soon surrounded by modern housing. The exact date when the agricultural use of these buildings ceased is not known, but the barn was being used by the Crittall company for storage in 1968.

There are openings in the gables and in two southwest bays that probably date from this period. Not surprisingly some of these are infilled with Crittall steel casement windows. Also at this time a first floor, approximately 2.8 m above the ground floor level was also inserted in these bays. An opening with a hoist arrangement was also made in the southwest gable, and the main doorway in the midstrey was made smaller and the doors renewed. Internally, most of the frame in bays 1 to 3 has been covered with modern claddings such as plywood.

The farmhouse has been used as a residential home for some years, and is in a separate ownership. The barn passed into the ownership of the local authority and was leased to the Silver End Scouts group from 1976, being used mainly for storage purposes. It was listed in 1982 (grade 11), however all evidence of the farmyard and any former farm buildings have gone.

The historic significance of the structure

The timber frame is of great interest, especially with regard to its unusual early form of primary bracing and the long tie beams. None of this frame should be cut during any future intervention except where it is necessary to allow essential repairs. The small area of early boarding without any tar or other treatment is also of note and should be protected.

One might suggest that the later openings with their "Crittall" windows are also of significance, as they reflect the special character of Silver End as an industrial centre that made a product which was exported all over the world. It seems logical that anywhere in the village where a new window was needed a Crittall frame should be used. lndeed, further along Boars Tye Road a barn converted into a chapel has been given an array of such windows.
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The shape and form of the building is also of significance and contributes visually to the conservation area. Here is a traditional gabled barn with steeply pitched roofs, a midstrey entrance and a cat slide addition. It stands close to the former farmhouse and evokes Silver
End's pre-industrial past. However, the barn has lost its original roof finish and wall coverings, its original floors and plinth, as well as the doors and other detailing that one would expect to find on a barn in a farmyard setting. The surroundings, whilst very pleasant are domesticated and suburbanised and are those of a planned industrial village, where agriculture has long ceased to have a great role in its economic or social fabric.
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Copy of 1716 map of Rivenhall Place Estate

showing Boars Tye Farm.
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Enlarged detail showing farmyard.
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Chapman & Andrée map os Essex 1777.
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Enlarged section at Boars Tye.
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Part of Tithe Award map for Rivenhall 1839.
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First Edition OS map 25” extract. 1875.
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18

New Series OS map 25” extract. 1922.
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Modern OS 1:2500 enlarged by 20%. 2006.
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Internal Frame elevation to south & midstrey.
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Internal Frame elevation to east & west gables.
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Internal Frame elevation to north (rear wall).
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Internal Frame elevation to east & west

in midstrey.
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Selection of picture images of the barn.

A – J
Photograph key to images on digital disc record. 
K

Photograph key to images on black & white film.
L
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